IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

HAZLEHURST LUMBER COMPANY, INC.

APPELLANT

V.

CASE NO. 2007-CA-00120

MISSISSIPPI FORESTRY COMMISSION

APPELLEE

APPEAL FROM THE FRANKLIN COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT

BRIEF OF APPELLANT Oral Argument Requested

Dennis L. Horn (MSB Horn & Payne; PLLC P.O. Box 2754 Madison, MS 39130 (601) 853-6090 (phone) (601) 853-2878 (fax) hornpayne@comcast.net

George C. Nicols (MSB # Attorney At Law, PLLC P.O. Box 12282 Jackson, MS 39236 (601) 853-1061(phone) (601) 853-2878 (fax) genicols@gmail.com

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

HAZLEHURST LUMBER COMPANY, INC.

APPELLANT

V.

CASE NO. 2007-CA-00120

MISSISSIPPI FORESTRY COMMISSION

APPELLEE

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- Whether the court below erred when ruling that the relief
 Hazlehurst Lumber sought was barred by the assumption of the
 risk, a rule the Mississippi Supreme Court has abrogated?
- 2) Whether Defendant's failure to assert assumption of the risk as an affirmative defense constitutes a waiver of that defense?
- 3) Whether Hazlehurst Lumber's causes of action not grounded in misrepresentation mandate reversal?
- 4) Whether mutual mistake, as found by the trial court below, requires reformation of the contract?

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

CASE NO. 2007-CA-00120

HAZLEHURST LUMBER COMPANY, INC.

APPELLANT

V.

MISSISSIPPI FORESTRY COMMISSION

APPELLEE

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the case.

This is a case of misrepresentation or mutual mistake on a timber contract.

Course of Proceedings.

Hazlehurst Lumber Company began this action by filing suit in Hinds County against the Mississippi Forestry Commission, the Franklin County School System, and the Franklin County Board of Education. (Vol. IX Tr. 3) Hazlehurst Lumber Company sought damages of \$104,339.36 for its losses on a Sixteenth Section school land tract of timber based on what the Circuit Court below correctly found to be a material misrepresentation. The Forestry Commission's invitation for bids stated, incorrectly, that it offered a "100% tree count." The tree count was wrong. There were fewer trees than represented in the tree count in the invitation for bids. The missing

trees, at then market value, caused the \$104,339.36 in damages.

The Hinds County Circuit Court transferred the case to the Franklin County Circuit Court. (Vol. IX Tr. 5). After this transfer, the Hazlehurst Lumber Company agreed to dismiss the Franklin County School Defendants. (Id.)

The Forestry Commission presented summary judgment motions which the court below granted in part and denied in part. Particularly the circuit court dismissed any claims stemming from alleged fraud but denied summary judgment on the remaining causes of action, namely, negligent misrepresentation, mutual mistake, and breach of contract. (Vol. IX Tr. 5-6). The Forestry Commission filed an interlocutory appeal to the Mississippi Supreme Court alleging the court erred in not dismissing the entire action. The Supreme Court denied the interlocutory appeal and the case proceeded to be heard on the merits as a bench trial in accordance with the Mississippi Tort Claims Act. (Vol. IX Tr. 6).

Trial was held on October 9, 2006. At the close of Hazlehurst Lumber Company's case the Mississippi Forestry commission moved for a direct verdict. (Vol. IX Tr.135-138).

Disposition in the court below.

The trial court granted a Rule 41(b) dismissal in favor of the Forestry

Commission finding that Hazlehurst Lumber company assumed the risk of relying upon the invitation for Bids' certified 100% tree count. (RE 20-35, Vol. IX-X, Tr 104-155).

Hazlehurst Lumber Company timely appealed this dismissal to this Court. (RE 38-9, Vol. VIII 1065).

Statement of the Facts

On or about December 5, 2000 the Mississippi Forestry Commission, acting pursuant to its statutory duty, let for bid a tract of land in Franklin County, Mississippi. The Forestry Commission handled the bid for the Franklin County School Board because the tract of timber was located on sixteenth section school lands. §29-3-45 Miss. Code Ann. of 1972 (the Commission's duty is to enter into agreements to manage and harvest timber on sixteenth section lands owned by school districts). The invitation for bids contained a one hundred percent (100%) tree count. The only "estimate" in the invitation was as to "volume" by board feet. The tree count was held out as one hundred percent (100%) accurate.

John Coats, an expert procurement forester working for Hazlehurst Lumber Company, reviewed the bid by studying the standing stock tables and volume estimates. (Vol. IX Tr. 11) He also reviewed the invitation for bids that plainly stated the tree count was a 100% count of the harvestable

trees and that any trees that the Forestry Commission would allow to be cut down would be marked with blue paint. (*Id.*)

Mr. Coats testified, following his experience and education, that it was the custom and practice in the timber industry to rely on a guaranteed 100% tree count to calculate the volume in bidding for the timber. (Vol. IX Tr. 12). Hazlehurst Lumber Company also presented an expert William A. Jenkins, a retired Georgia Pacific forester, who also testified that the custom of the lumber industry is to rely upon a one hundred percent (100%) tree count as accurate. (Vol. IX Tr. 72).

The volume of board feet harvested ended up with a market value \$104,339.36 short of what Hazlehurst Lumber Company reasonably thought it had bought. (Vol. IX Tr. 124). To verify the inaccurate count in the invitation for bids, Mr. Coats took a crew and counted the actual tree stumps. (Vol IX Tr. 29). The actual count was 1529 trees short of the trees guaranteed in the invitation for bids. (Vol. IX Tr. 112; Plaintiff's Exhibit 19) Hazlehurst Lumber Company's operations manager, Dan Starke Albritton, calculated Hazlehurst Lumber Company's damage caused by the inaccurate tree count to be the \$104,339.36 (Vol. IX Tr. 125-6). As the court below found, the shortage was "...in excess of thirty percent of what was projected to be - - or what was set out as the tree count from what was

actually out there." (RE 23, Vol. IX Tr 143).

As stated <u>supra</u>, the tree count was wrong. The count was for four thousand eight hundred and fifty trees (4,850). The actual number of trees was three thousand three hundred and twenty one (3,321), a deficit to Hazlehurst Lumber Company of one thousand five hundred and twenty nine trees (1,529). This number of missing trees lead to a shortage of two hundred forty eight thousand nine hundred sixty two (248,962) board feet, causing the \$104,339.36 in damages at the then current market value.

Furthermore, in its bench opinion granting the Forestry

Commission's Rule 41 (b) dismissal, the Court ruled, "I find very clearly that there was - that the information that we're dealing with here, the tree count that was included in the invitation for bids was erroneous. It was in error. It was inaccurate. It was misleading because of the number involved. There is very strong, clear evidence from which the Court can find that element. There is strong evidence which the Court could find that there is negligence involved here." (RE 31, Vol. X 151). "There was some type of negligence involving this tree count because you cannot reconcile these figures that are set out in this invitation to bid and attached it with what was actually found out there and what was harvested." (RE 34, Vol. X 154).

This arrearage of board feet caused by the incorrect number of trees

directly and proximately caused damage to Hazlehurst Lumber Company in the amount of One Hundred Four Thousand Three Hundred Thirty Nine Dollars and 36 cents (\$104,339.36). These damages were the result of the Forestry Commission failing to complete its statutory duty as dictated in Miss. Code Ann.§ 29-3-45.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The appellant lumber company successfully proved at trial that
Hazlehurst Lumber reasonably relied on the misrepresentation of the
Mississippi Forestry Commission. The court below found negligent
misrepresentation caused Hazlehurst Lumber Company to overvalue a tract
of timber causing damages for Hazlehurst Lumber Company. However the
trial court determined that Hazlehurst Lumber Company "assumed the risk"
and applied "assumption of the risk" as an absolute bar to Hazlehurst
Lumber Company's recovery.

The Mississippi Supreme Court has abrogated "assumption of the risk" as a complete bar in a tort claim action. Therefore the trial court erred as a matter of law when it involuntary dismissed the Hazlehurst Lumber Company's case under Rule 41(b). The trial court also erred by using the "assumption of the risk" where the Defendant, the Forestry Commission,

failed to affirmatively plead "assumption of the risk" as required by Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure 8 (c) and had failed to raise assumption of the risk at any point, including its motion for directed verdict at the close of the plaintiff's case.

The trial court also erred by dismissing Hazlehurst Lumber

Company's breach of contract and mutual mistake claims. The court below

found every element necessary for a ruling in favor of Hazlehurst Lumber

Company on either negligent misrepresentation or mutual mistake. This

Court must reverse this dismissal on all grounds and remand this case to the

Trial Court to resume with the Defendant's case in chief.

ARGUMENT

Standard Of Review

The Court reviews all questions of law under a *de novo* standard of review. *Russell v. Performance Toyota, Inc.* 826 So. 2d 719, 721 P5 (Miss. 2002).

At the close of the Plaintiff's case, "The proper motion was not one for a directed verdict. Instead, in a bench trial, the proper motion to make at the close of plaintiff's case-in-chief is a motion for involuntary dismissal under Rule 41(b) of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure. Rule 50(a)

directed verdicts are reserved only for jury trials." *Ladner v. Stone County*, 938 So. 2d 270, 273 P9(Miss. Ct. App. 2006) (citing *Partlow v. McDonald*, 877 So.2d 414, 416 (P7) (Miss. Ct. App. 2003)). "In considering a motion for involuntary dismissal under Rule 41(b), the trial court should consider "the evidence fairly, as distinguished from in the light most favorable to the plaintiff," and the judge should dismiss the case if it would find for the defendant. *Id.* (citing *Century 21 Deep S. Props., Ltd. v. Corson*, 612 So.2d 359, 369 (Miss. 1992)). "We must apply the substantial evidence/manifest error standard to an appeal of a grant or denial of a motion to dismiss pursuant to M.R.C.P. 41(b). Where there arguably is evidence that a party might be entitled to a judgment, the court errs in dismissing the case." *Id.*

Ι

The Court erred in utilizing the assumption of the risk doctrine long abrogated by the Mississippi Supreme Court by granting a Rule 41 (b) dismissal at the end of Hazlehurst Lumber Company's case.

The case revolved around a one hundred percent (100%) tree count prepared by the Mississippi Forestry Commission in a request for bids for land owned by the Franklin County School Board as sixteenth section land. Hazlehurst Lumber was awarded the contract based upon its bid. Their bid

relied upon the tree count which was materially low, as found by the circuit court below, at trial. (RE 23, Vol. IX Tr. 143). The court found that Hazlehurst Lumber Company harvested fewer trees than had been represented by the Forestry Commission, resulting in a dramatic loss of profits for Hazlehurst Lumber Company. (*Id.*)

In the bench opinion, the Honorable Judge Forrest A. Johnson, Jr., made findings of fact according to Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure 52 including that, "there's very clear evidence of a significant deficiency or understatement of the actual trees there or overstatement as to the 100 percent tree count." (RE 27, Vol. IX Tr. 147).

Additionally, "I find very clearly that there was - that the information that we're dealing with here, the tree count that was included in the invitation for bids was erroneous. It was in error. It was inaccurate. It was misleading because of the number involved. There is very strong, clear evidence from which the Court can find that element. There is strong evidence which the Court could find that there is negligence involved here." (RE 31, Vol. X Tr. 151). "There was some type of negligence involving this tree count because you cannot reconcile these figures that are set out in this invitation to bid and attached it with what was actually found out there and what was harvested." (RE 34, Vol. X Tr. 154).

However, Judge Johnson ruled that the Plaintiff can not succeed on this matter. "The Plaintiff would appear to have assumed the risk." (RE 35, Vol. X Tr. 155 *emphasis added*) "One of the clear defenses to a tort is assumption of the risk." (RE 33, Vol. X Tr. 153 *emphasis added*).

This Rule 41 (b) dismissal is contrary to established Mississippi case law which has repealed the assumption of the risk doctrine. *Churchill v. Pearl River Basin Development Dist.*, 757 So.2d 940, 943 P10 and P12 (Miss. 1999). The trial court dismissed the Plaintiff's case as completely barred by the assumption of the risk doctrine. (RE 33-35, Vol. X Tr. 153-155). This ruling is error.

The Court stated the elements of negligent misrepresentation as, "a misrepresentation being negligence involved, and that there is detrimental reliance upon this." (RE 31, Vol. IX Tr. 151). "The final and essential element is that the party suing, if you will, for damages must have relied upon to their detriment in a reasonable manner this negligent misrepresentation or this negligent or inaccurate or misleading statement." (RE 32, Vol. X Tr. 152). The trial court had previously found that Hazlehurst Lumber had suffered an injury or damages of \$104,339.36, finding that "...given the full benefit of the doubt to defendant and using conservative figures, it resulted in their claim for damages of some

\$104,000." (RE 23 Vol. IX Tr 143). The trial court had correctly followed the test this Court laid out in *Clark v. St. Dominic-Jackson Memorial Hosp.*, 660 So. 2d 970, 974 (Miss. 1995) that: "The elements of a negligent misrepresentation claim are: 1) a misrepresentation or omission of fact; 2) materiality; 3) the failure to exercise ordinary care; 4) reasonable reliance; and 5) injury." *Clark*, at 974.

The stem count, stump count, and measurement of board feet all showed that the tree count provided by the Mississippi Forestry

Commission was in error. The court below ruled itself that, "It was in error. It was inaccurate." (RE 31, Vol. X Tr. 151). The court itself noted "strong evidence" and "clear evidence" that the tree count was in error and the Forestry Commission benefitted from its own error. (RE 31, Vol. X Tr. 151). Thus the first element, that a misrepresentation was made, is met. Additionally the court noted the, "strong evidence which the Court could find that there is negligence involved here." (RE 32,Vol. X Tr. 152)

Therefore the Forestry Commission's actions were negligent.

Established case law in this State has uniformly enforced an obligation to be accurate in a one hundred percent (100%) tree count. See for example *Reed v. Charping*, 207 Miss 1, 41 So. 2d 11 (1949) where an exact count given by the seller, a member of the board of supervisors of the

county who was under a duty to give a correct count, controlled a contract action and required that the buyer be given the benefit of the number agreed to in the contract.

Finally, the court below correctly found that: "Hazlehurst Lumber Company, it appears, reacted in a reasonable manner." (RE 32, Vol. X Tr. 152). Therefore the element of reasonable reliance is met. Therefore every element of negligent misrepresentation has been met by the trier of fact, the trial judge in a tort claims action. (Id.). The trial court made correct findings of fact and correctly stated the law on negligent misrepresentation; it erred by negating its own ruling by resorting to assumption of the risk.

II

The Trial Court erred when it dismissed this case using the assumption of the risk doctrine because the defendant failed to affirmatively plead the defensive of assumption of the risk.

Rule 8 (c) of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure states, "Affirmative Defenses. In a pleading to a preceding pleading, a party shall set forth affirmatively . . . assumption of the risk." The Forestry Commission failed to raise assumption of the risk either in the Commission's answer or in its motion for directed verdict. (Vol. I 57-63; Vol. VII 1031-1045). Therefore this Court should find that the trial court erred in granting a dismissal on the affirmative defense of assumption of the

risk.

In Pass Termite & Pest Control, Inc. v. Walker, 904 So. 2d 1030, 1033 P10 (Miss. 2004)(arbitration issue) the Mississippi Supreme Court barred a defendant from raising an affirmative defense, relying on Rule 8 (c). The Court there held: "The general rule is that affirmative defenses must be raised in a party's answer," citing, e.g., Canizaro v. Mobile

Communications Corp. Of Am. 655 So.2d 25 (Miss. 1995)(statue of frauds) and Whaley v. Cal-Maine Food, Inc., 530 So.2d 136 (Miss. 1988)(res judicata).

Therefore this Court should reverse the judgment against Hazlehurst Lumber Company for the trial court's violation of Rule 8 (c).

Ш

The negligent misrepresentation and mutual mistake, as found by the trial court, also require reversal of the Rule 41 (b) dismissal.

The Court determined that the primary issue in this case was the tort of reckless or negligent misrepresentation. (RE 30, Vol. IX Tr. 150). After finding that negligent misrepresentation applied to the case at hand, the Trial Court therefore also dismissed Hazlehurst Lumber Company's other causes of action namely, breach of contract and mutual mistake. (RE 29,

Vol. IX Tr. 149) "Assumption of the Risk" does not serve as a bar to these additional claims for recovery.

Hazlehurst Lumber Company adduced a valid case of mutual mistake. In an action to reform a deed based on a mistake theory, the petitioner must demonstrate a mutual mistake among the parties or a unilateral mistake in combination with fraud or inequitable conduct on the part of the benefitting party. Perrien v. Mapp, 374 So.2d 794 (Miss. 1979); McCov v. McCov, 611 So.2d 957 (Miss. 1992). In Koonce v. Board of Supervisors of Grenada County, 202 Miss. 473, 32 So.2d 264 (Miss. 1947), the Mississippi Supreme Court reformed a timber deed entered into by a board of supervisors for school land where there had been a mutual mistake as to the range number in the legal description of the property. The Court reformed the deed to provide for the reasonable value of the timber that had in fact been cut. The Court stated: "under Mississippi law, the failure of a written contract to accurately reflect the agreement of the parties constitutes a mutual mistake and the mistaken provision of the contract can be reformed . . . " Crosby Mississippi Resources, Ltd. v. Prosper Entergy Corp., __ F.Supp. __ 1991 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 20788 (S.D. Miss. 1991), aff'd 974 F.2d 612 (5th Cir. 1992), citing Consolidated American Life Ins. Co., 244 So.2d 400, 402 (Miss. 1971).

At trial, Hazlehurst Lumber presented evidence to show the incorrect tree count that the parties relied upon to enter the contract. John Coats testified that he relied upon the tree count to compute the bid Hazlehurst Lumber submitted. (Vol. IX Tr. 12). Ron Howard, one of crew chiefs for the Defendant Forestry Commission's crew, which performed the tree count testified that the tree count had to be 100% accurate. (Vol. IX Tr. 62).

The parties intended for the 100% tree count to be 100% accurate.

Both parties mutually relied on the accuracy of the tree count. (RE 29, Vol. IX Tr. 149). However, the trial court refused a remedy based on mutual mistake because the contract contained language that the volume to be realized from the trees was an estimate. (RE 29, Vol. IX Tr. 149).

If the parties intended for the contract to include the tree count in the contract, language as to the volume of board feet does not prevent reformation of the contract as a mutual mistake. In *Birchett v. Anderson et al.*, 160 Miss. 144, 133 So. 129 (Miss. 1931) the Mississippi Supreme Court reviewed the deed in a land conveyance where the exact land description was not what the parties intended to convey. After the fact, the parties disputed exactly what land they conveyed. "The vendee relied upon the representations, which representations constituted one of the inducing causes of the consummation of the sale of the land, and representations were

false in a material respect, the falsity of which was not discoverable by an inspection of the land, and as the purchaser was actually misled by such representations, he was entitled to a recession and cancellation of the conveyance of land." *Id.* at 131.

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