IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

HAZELHURST LUMBER COMPANY, INC.	APPELLANT
VS.	CASE NO.: 2007-CA-00120
MISSISSIPPI FORESTRY COMMISSION	APPELLEE
APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF FRA	ANKLIN COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI
BRIEF OF APPELI	LEE

Heber S. Simmons, III (MB# SIMMONS LAW GROUP, P.A. 240 Trace Colony Park Dr. Suite 200

Ridgeland, MS 39157

Telephone: (601) 914-2882 Facsimile: (601) 914-2887

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

HAZELHURST LUMBER COMPANY, INC.

APPELLANT

VS.

CASE NO.: 2007-CA-00120

MISSISSIPPI FORESTRY COMMISSION

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

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

C. Summary of the Argument

The issues now raised by Plaintiff on appeal were never properly raised at the trial level, and therefore, those issues are procedurally barred from consideration on appeal. Alternatively, the trial court was not manifestly in error in its dismissal of Plaintiff's claims of breach of contract, mutual mistake and negligent misrepresentation, and the trial court's Rule 41(b) involuntary dismissal of

Plaintiff's claims, at the conclusion of Plaintiff's case in chief, should be affirmed.

PART II

PROCEDURAL BAR TO PLAINTIFF'S APPEAL

The Mississippi appellate courts have consistently held, "[w]e will not review on appeal that which was not raised at the trial level." *Shaw v. Shaw*, 603 So.2d 287, 292 (Miss. 1992); *Mimmitt v. Allstate*, 928 So.2d 203, 206 (¶ 18) (Miss.Ct.App. 2006). "This Court will not put a trial judge in error for issues not first presented to the trial court for resolution." *Mimmitt*, 928 So.2d at 206 (¶ 18); *New Bellum Homes Inc. v. Swain*, 806 So.2d 301, 305 (¶ 11) (Miss.Ct.App. 2001). "This Court can only review matters on appeal as were considered by the lower court." *Paracelcus Healthcare Corporation v. Willard*, 754 So.2d 437, 441 (¶ 16) (Miss. 1999); *Ditto v. Hinds County*, 665 So.2d 878, 879 (Miss. 1995). "The assertion on appeal of grounds for an objection which was not the assertion at trial is not an issue properly preserved on appeal." *Willard*, 754 So.2d at 441 (¶16); *Ballenger v. State*, 667 So.2d 1242, 1254 (Miss. 1995).

In the case subjudice, none of the issues now argued by Plaintiff on appeal were raised and argued before the trial court, and the trial court had no opportunity to consider said issues for resolution. For that very reason alone, Plaintiff's appeal herein is procedurally barred from consideration by this Court.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Because this case was tried by the lower court as a bench trial, Appellant, HLC, has properly argued, and Defendant agrees, that Defendant MFC's motion for dismissal at the end of Plaintiff's case in chief was a *Miss. R. Civ. Proc* 41(b) Motion for Involuntary Dismissal rather than a *Miss. R. Civ. Proc* 50(a) Motion for Directed Verdict.

The Mississippi Court of Appeals has held that the standard of review for a motion to dismiss under Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure 41(b) is as follows:

[i]n considering a motion to dismiss, the judge should consider "the evidence fairly, as distinguished from in the light most favorable to the Plaintiff," and the judge should dismiss the case if it would find for the defendant. "The court must deny a motion to dismiss only if the judge would be obliged to find for the plaintiff if the plaintiff's evidence were all the evidence offered in the case." "This Court applies the substantial evidence/manifest error standards to an appeal of a grant or denial of a motion to dismiss pursuant to M.R.C.P. 41(b)."

Gallegos v. Mid-South Mortgage and Investment, Inc., 956 So.2d 1055, 1059 (¶ 14) (Miss.Ct.App. 2007) (citing Alexander v. Brown 793 So.2d 601, 601 (¶ 6) (Miss. 2001)). The Gallegos court went on to find:

[t]his Court will not disturb the findings of a chancellor when supported by substantial evidence unless the chancellor abused his or her discretion, was manifestly wrong, clearly erroneous, or an erroneous legal standard was applied.

956 So.2d at 1059 (¶ 15) (citing Sanderson v. Sanderson, 824 So.2d 623, 625-26 (¶ 8) (Miss.2002)).

In Milligan v. Milligan, the Mississippi Court of Appeals found:

[w]hen considering a motion to dismiss, the chancellor should review the evidence fairly, and not in the light most favorable to the plaintiff, which is the applicable standard for a motion for a directed verdict. Century 21 Deep South Properties, Ltd. v. Corson, 612 So.2d 359, 369 (Miss.1992). "The result is that the ruling [for an involuntary dismissal] is practically equivalent to a finding of fact." Ainsworth v. Callon Petroleum Co., 521 So.2d 1272, 1274 (Miss.1987). Therefore, the standard of review for a motion to dismiss under Rule 41(b) is one of substantial evidence and manifest error. Stewart v. Merchants Nat'l Bank, 700 So.2d 255, 259 (Miss.1997).

956 So.2d 1066, 1072 (¶ 14) (2007). See also, Gulfport-Biloxi Regional Airport Authority v. Montclair Travel Agency, Inc., 937 So.2d 1000, 1004-05 (¶ 13) (Miss.App. 2006) (citations omitted) ("The standard of review for a motion for involuntary dismissal is different than that for a motion for directed verdict...[i]n reviewing a trial court's grant or denial of a Rule 41(b) motion for involuntary dismissal, we apply the substantial evidence/manifest error standards").

ARGUMENT

I.

The lower court did not err in granting a Rule 41(b) dismissal in favor of Defendant.

As previously argued hereinabove, the Plaintiff filed no post-trial Motion for Reconsideration, Motion for New Trial or JNOV or any other objection to the trial court's ruling, which is at issue herein. Therefore, Plaintiff has never presented this issue to the lower court for reconsideration or other resolution, and therefore said issue is not properly before this Court and argument of same is procedurally barred. However, if the Court does not agree with Defendant, Defendant alternatively submits its response to Plaintiff's argument as to this issue.

Again, as part of the Invitation for Bids and Forest Products Sale Contract which are at issue in this case, an **estimated** tree count was provided by the Mississippi Forestry Commission. Both the Invitation for Bids (RE 1-7) and the Forest Products Sale Contract (RE 8-19) state, in clear, unambiguous language, that the tree count was merely an estimation, and that the **kind**, **quantity and quality** of trees should be determined by the Purchaser, and/or that a inspection should be performed by the Purchaser at their option.

Specifically, the Invitation for Bids included the following language when referring to the estimated volume of wood from this tract of timber: "...estimated to contain...more or less. The above figures are not to be construed to be the exact volume marked. Each bidder is expected to make his own cruise and to bid accordingly." Further, the Invitation for Bids stated that, "The timber may be inspected at any time." (RE 1-7) (emphasis added).

Likewise, the Forest Products Sales Contract states: "All of the forest products covered by this contract, described and <u>estimated</u> below..." and "The volume of products marked or designated is

estimated by the Seller to contain the following, more or less:" Further, the Sales Contract states, "The Buyer represents that he has inspected the sale area and familiarized himself with the kind, amount and quality of all timber marked or designated by the Seller, and covered by this contract, and understands that the estimated volume figures are furnished for information only, and are not guaranteed by the Seller." (RE 8-19) (emphasis added).

In its opinion on Defendant's Motion for Directed Verdict, the lower court made it very clear that its findings were based upon the disclaimer found in the MFC's Invitation for Bids (Vol. IX Tr. 141) and the "very strong contract provisions" regarding the subject tree count and volume estimations. (Vol. IX Tr. 147). The lower court used the terms "assumption of the risk", "buyer beware" (Vol. IX Tr. 148), and "you take it as you find it" (Vol. IX Tr. 148). The lower court went on to find that based upon these contract provisions, there was a "very clearly a meeting of the minds there" (Vol. IX Tr. 148), and that the contract provisions "clearly overrides the other figures that were incorporated in the contract because this paragraph makes it clear that there were no guarantees, and that the buyer was to familiarize himself with it, and these were estimates only and furnished for information only". (Vol. IX Tr. 148).

The lower court went on to discuss Plaintiff's remaining viable claim in this case, negligent misrepresentation. The lower court discussed that there are "four or five" elements of negligent misrepresentation (Vol. IX Tr. 151). According to Mississippi precedent, in order to establish a prima facie case of negligent misrepresentation, the Plaintiff must show the following elements: (1) a misrepresentation or omission of fact; (2) that the representation or omission is material or significant; (3) that the defendant failed to exercise that degree of diligence and expertise the public is entitled to expect of it; (4) that the Plaintiff reasonably relied on the Defendant's representations; and (5) that the Plaintiff suffered damages as a direct and proximate result of his reasonable reliance. *Horace*

Mann Life Insurance Company v. Nunaley, 960 So.2d 455, 461 (¶ 4) (Miss. 2007). See also Moran v. Fairley, 919 So.2d 969, 973, (¶12-13) (Miss.Ct.App. 2005) and Skrmetta v. Bayview Yacht Club, 806 So.2d 1120, 1124 (Miss. 2002). The burden of proof in a negligent misrepresentation case falls on the plaintiff to prove each element by a preponderance of the evidence. Fairley, 919 So.2d at 973 (¶ 12) (emphasis added) (citing Bank of Shaw v. Posey, 573 So.2d 1355, 1360 (Miss. 1990)).

Based upon its findings as to the Defendant's disclaimers and contract provisions as set forth hereinabove, the lower court in the present case clearly found that the Plaintiff could not meet its burden as to two critical elements of negligent misrepresentation.

First, the lower court found that Defendant could not have made a misrepresentation or omission of fact. The Invitation for Bids clearly stated that the numbers given therein were estimates and were not to be relied upon by the Plaintiff in formulating its bid and that the Plaintiff was expected to make its own cruise in formulating it bid. (RE 1-7). Likewise, the Forest Products Sales Contract states: "All of the forest products covered by this contract, described and estimated below..." and "The volume of products marked or designated is estimated by the Seller to contain the following, more or less:" Further, the Sales Contract states, "The Buyer represents that he has inspected the sale area and familiarized himself with the kind, amount and quality of all timber marked or designated by the Seller, and covered by this contract, and understands that the estimated volume figures are furnished for information only, and are not guaranteed by the Seller." (RE 8-19) (emphasis added).

These two documents did not make any sort of representation as to the kind, amount or quality of the timber contained therein, and that the buyer was to make those types of determinations, based upon its own, independent cruise of the subject timber. Therefore, the Plaintiff has failed to prove the first element in proving its case of negligent misrepresentation.

The Plaintiff, in its case in chief, likewise failed to prove a second element, that it reasonably relied upon the Defendant's alleged representations. Based upon the language found in the Invitation for Bids and the Sales Contract, set forth herein, the Defendant exercised more than adequate diligence in its express and unambiguous wording of the aforementioned documents and the Plaintiff, given said language, could not have acted reasonably when relying on "estimated" counts that were "not guaranteed". Further, such reliance was unreasonable when the Invitation for Bids expressly stated that the bidders were "expected to make his own cruise and to bid accordingly."

Moreover, when the Plaintiff did conduct its own, independent 9.25 percent cruise of the subject timber, its own cruise revealed that the total tree count and volume was less that what was set out in the Invitation for Bids (Vol. IX Tr. 22-23 and 142). However, the Plaintiff chose to ignore its own lower numbers, and unreasonably relied on the estimated numbers provided by the Defendant to formulate its bid. Plaintiff's reliance upon the Defendant's tree count figures, used in the Invitation for Bids, was unreasonable, given the language of the Invitation for Bids and of the Sale Contract. The terms of the Invitation for Bids and the Contract are clear and unambiguous. The Defendant could not and did not breach the contract at issue herein, nor can the Defendant be held liable for negligent misrepresentation, when the Plaintiff's reliance was unreasonable. Accordingly, Plaintiff can not meet it burden to sustain its claim of negligent misrepresentation against Defendant MFC and the lower court's grant of a Rule 41(b) dismissal in favor of Defendant should be affirmed.

II.

The Defendant adequately pled affirmative defenses to sustain the lower court's grant of Rule 41(b) dismissal.

As previously argued hereinabove, the Plaintiff filed no post-trial motions or other objections to the trial court's ruling, which is at issue herein. Therefore, Plaintiff has never presented this issue

to the lower court for reconsideration or other resolution, and therefore said issue is not properly before this Cout and argument of same is procedurally barred. However, Defendant alternatively present's its responses to Plaintiff's argument as to this issue.

Again, in arguing this issue, the Plaintiff improperly focuses and relies upon the lower court's usage of the term "assumption of the risk". As previously argued, the court also used the terms "buyer beware" (Vol. IX Tr. 148), and "you take it as you find it" (Vol. IX Tr. 148). All three of these terms were simply used by the trial court in finding that Plaintiff could not meet its burden in establishing a *prima facie* case for negligent misrepresentation. The trial court did not use the doctrine of assumption of the risk as a complete defense to Plaintiff's claims. A careful review of Defendant's Motion for Directed Verdict (RE 91-105; Vol. IX Tr. 135-38) and the trial court's Order granting same (Vol. # IX Tr. 140-Vol. # X Tr. 155) makes it clear that Defendant was arguing, and the trial court agreed, that based upon Plaintiff's case in chief, Plaintiff could not meet its burden in establishing a *prima facie* case, in that it could not establish that its reliance upon the estimated tree counts and volumes was reasonable, based upon the clear language of the Invitation for Bids and Forest Products Sales Contract. Therefore, Plaintiff's argument is misplaced, and there are no grounds for reversal or remand herein.

Alternatively, on or about July 19, 2002, Defendant MFC filed its Separate Answer and Affirmative Defenses of the Mississippi Forestry Commission. (RE 113-120). In that Answer, Defendant's Sixth Affirmative Defense states: "[p]laintiff's damages, if any, were caused or contributed to, in whole or in part, by the comparative fault of Plaintiff's employees or agents and any such fault shall reduce any recovery in this matter, pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. § 11-7-15 (1972).

In Churchill v. Pearl River Basin Development District, 757 So.2d 940, 943 (¶ 11) (Miss. 1999), the Court held that the doctrine of "assumption of the risk" on the part of the plaintiff merely

goes to the percentage of fault attributable to the plaintiff; it no longer affords a complete defense to the defendant unless the jury finds that the plaintiff's assumption of the risk proportionately reduces damages to zero. This Defendant did indeed affirmatively plead comparative negligence, and according to the trial court's ruling, it is clear that the trial court determined that the Plaintiff's comparative fault proportionately reduced its damages to zero.

Again, Plaintiff's argument is misplaced. The lower court's ruling was proper and there are no grounds for reversal or remand herein, and the lower court's grant dismissal should be affirmed.

III.

The lower court's rulings dismissing Plaintiff's breach of contract and mutual mistake causes of action do not require reversal or remand.

As previously argued hereinabove, the Plaintiff filed no post-trial motions or other objection to the trial court's ruling, which is at issue herein. Therefore, Plaintiff has never presented this issue to the lower court for reconsideration, new trial or other resolution, and therefore said issue is not properly before this Court and argument of same is procedurally barred. However, Defendant alternatively submits its responses to Plaintiff's argument as to this issue.

A. BREACH OF CONTRACT

1. Whether a contract exists between Defendant MFC and Plaintiff

Plaintiff's claim for breach of contract is predicated upon a Forest Products Sale Contract, entered into between the Franklin County Board of Education and Plaintiff, Hazelhurst Lumber. The Contract was signed by both parties on January 2, 2001. (RE 16). Defendant MFC was never a party to, nor did they derive any benefit from, said Contract.

In an action for breach of contract, the claimant must either be a party to the contract or be in privity of contract with the breaching party. In order for there to be a valid contract, the following

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